1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA JAVAR KETCHUM, 2 Supreme Court Case No.: 87012 Electronically Filed Jan 20 2024 12:53 AM Appellant, 3 District Case No.: Elizabeth A. Brown 4 VS. Clerk of Supreme Court 5 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 6 Respondent. 7 (Appeal From a Final Order of The Eighth Judicial District Court, Denying 8 Petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction)) 9 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF **Volume III** 10 **Bates Nos.:** AO000360 - AO00055211 12 13 14 15 C. BENJAMIN SCROGGINS, ESQ. 16 Nevada Bar No. 7902 THE LAW FIRM OF 17 C. BENJAMIN SCROGGINS, CHTD. 629 South Casino Center Boulevard 18 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Tel.: (702) 328-5550 19 info@cbscrogginslaw.com 20 Attorney for Appellant, JAVAR KETCHUM 21

1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA			
2	JAVAR KETCHUM,	Supreme Court Case No.: 87012		
3	Appellant,	District Case No.: C-16-319714-1		
4	vs.			
5	THE STATE OF NEVADA,			
6				
7	Respondent.			
8	APPELLANT'S APPENDIX ALPHABETICAL INDEX			
9	Pursuant to NRAP 25(c)(1)(E) I certify that I served the foregoing Appellant's			
10	Appendix by causing it to be served by electronic means to the registered users of			
11	the Court's electronic filing system consistent with NEFCR 9 to the following:			
12	Aaron Ford			
13	Alexander Chen			
14	Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction), (03/24/2023)			
15	Appellant's Corrected Opening Brief, - 75097, (08/29/2018)			
16	Volume IV - (Bates Nos.: AO000575 – 634)			
17	Court Minutes RE Amended PWHC, (05/23/2023)			
18	Court Minutes RE Confirmation of Counsel, (07/26/20218)			
19				
20	Court Minutes RE Defendant's Motion for Medical Treatment, (12/12/2017)			
21				

1	Court Minutes RE Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Stipulation, (12/01/2017)		
2			
3	Criminal Order to Statistically Close Case, (02/13/2018)		
4	Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law & Order, (03/31/2021)		
5	Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law & Order, (06/15/2023)		
6			
7	Judgment, Affirmed, (10/11/2019)		
8	Judgment of Conviction, (02/05/2018)		
9	Volume III - (Bates Nos.: AO000551 - 552)		
10	Motion for Appointment of Counsel on Appeal, (06/27/2018)		
11	Motion to Compel Production of Trial Transcript, (03/12/2018)		
12	Volume IV - (Bates Nos.: AO000556 – 560)		
13	Motion for Medical Treatment, (11/27/2017)		
14	Motion for New Trial, (06/02/2017) Volume III - (Bates Nos.: AO000382 – 440)		
15	Motion to Vacate Stipulation, (10/30/2017)		
16	Volume III - (Bates Nos.: AO000507 – 513)		
17	Notice of Additional Letters of Support in Aide of Sentencing, (11/13/2017)		
18	Notice of Appeal, (02/06/2018)		
19	Notice of Appeal – 82863, (05/06/2021)		
20	Volume IV- (Bates Nos.: AO000717 – 760)		
21			

1	Notice of Change of Case Number, (09/16/2020)
2	N .: ST
3	Notice of Transfer to Court of Appeals – 82863-COA, (12/06/2021)
4	Order, Appointment of Counsel, (07/31/2018)
5	
6	Order, (04/04/2018) Volume IV - (Bates Nos.: AO000561)
7	Order of Affirmance – 75097, (09/12/2019)
′	Volume IV - (Bates Nos.: AO000683 – 687)
8	Order of Affirmance – 82863-COA, (02/03/2022)
9	
10	Order Directing Transmission of Record & Regarding Briefing – 82863, (05/13/2021)
11	Order for Transcript, (06/12/2017) Volume III - (Bates Nos.: AO000507)
12	Order for Production of Inmate, (03/03/2023)
13	
14	Petition for Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus, (09/11/2020) Volume IV- (Bates Nos.: AO000691 – 701)
15	Remittitur – 75097, (11/01/2019) Volume IV - (Bates Nos.: AO000688 – 690)
16	Remittitur – 82863-COA, (03/22/2022)
17	(= 3332 = 3333 = 3 333
18	Reply Memorandum to State of Nevada's Opposition to Defendant's Motion for New Trial, (09/27/2017) Volume III - (Bates Nos.: AO000454 – 462)
19	Respondent's Answering Brief – 75097, (10/29/2018)
20	Volume IV - (Bates Nos.: AO000635 – 681)
21	

1	Sentencing Memorandum, (10/16/2017)			
2				
3	State's Opposition to Defendant's Motion for New Trial, 09/05/2017 Volume III - (Bates Nos.: AO000441 – 453)			
4	State's Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Vacate Stipulation, (11/28/2017)			
5				
6	State's Response to Petitioner's Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus – Post Conviction, (04/27/2023) Volume V- (Bates Nos.: AO000806 – 832)			
7	Supplement to Defendant's Motion for New Trial, (09/28/2017) Volume III - (Bates Nos.: AO000463 – 470)			
8	Transcript of Proceedings, Jury Trial – Day 1, Partial Transcript – Excludes Jury			
9	Voir Dire, 05/22/2017 Volume I - (Bates Nos.: AO000001 - 12)			
10	Transcript of Proceedings, Jury Trial – Day 2, Partial Transcript – Excludes Jury Voir Dire & Opening Statements, 05/23/2017			
11				
12	Transcript of Proceedings, Jury Trial – Day 3, 05/24/2017			
13				
14	Transcript of Proceedings, Jury Trial – Day 4, 05/25/2017			
15	Transcript of Proceedings, Jury Trial – Day 5, Partial Transcript – Excludes Closing Arguments, 05/26/2017			
16				
17	CERTIFIED this20thday of January, 2024.			
18	Letty X to			
19	KELLY JARVI, Legal Assistant to THE LAW FIRM OF			
20	C. BENJAMIN SCROGGINS CHTD.			
21				

Electronically Filed 7/10/2017 8:31 AM Steven D. Grierson CLERK OF THE COURT

TRAN

DISTRICT COURT CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA * * * * *

THE STATE OF NEVADA, CASE NO. C-16-319714-1

> Plaintiff, DEPT. NO. XVII

TRANSCRIPT OF VS.

PROCEEDINGS JAVAR ERIS KETCHUM,

Defendant.

.

BEFORE THE HONORABLE KATHY HARDCASTLE SENIOR DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

JURY TRIAL - DAY 5

PARTIAL TRANSCRIPT (EXCLUDES CLOSING ARGUMENTS)

FRIDAY, MAY 26, 2017

APPEARANCES:

FOR THE STATE: JOHN L. GIORDANI, III., ESQ.

STEVEN ROSE, ESQ.

Deputy District Attorneys

FOR DEFENDANT KETCHUM: NICHOLAS M. WOOLDRIDGE, ESQ.

RECORDED BY: CYNTHIA GEORGILAS, COURT RECORDER TRANSCRIBED BY: VERBATIM DIGITAL REPORTING, LLC

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, FRIDAY, MAY 26, 2017, 9:40 A.M.

(Outside the presence of the jury)

THE COURT: All right. We're back on the record outside the presence of the jury panel. Counsel for both sides are present, defendant is present. You may take a seat. We're making a record.

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Sure.

THE COURT: Did you get the issue regarding the testimony worked out?

MR. GIORDANI: I believe.

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: In terms of probation, Your Honor?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Your Honor, I'm looking at the court minutes, and what I see is that the case is getting status checked for revocation of probation hearing since 4/13. I don't like the stipulation that he's just on some type of informal probation. I think it negates the seriousness of what's going on with him, and makes it sound like in the mind of the jurors that he's just like, that this is no big deal.

The fact that he's on some type of informal probation, it's not necessarily -- it's still probation. He's --

THE COURT: Well, either you've worked out a stipulation or you haven't. If you haven't, what is your request?

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: My request is to let the jury know he is on probation, period.

MR. GIORDANI: And we're okay with that. We just want it accurate. On December 21st, 2015, nine months before the murder, he was OR'ed with house arrest on that probation case. So his release on that was not -- had nothing to do with this case. On 1/13/16, again, eight months before the murder, he was taken off of supervised probation and placed on informal probation.

After the murder, a VR, Violation Report was filed three days, so right when he turned himself into his attorney and the police. So he is on informal probation and there is a violation pending. I mean, we're fine with that.

THE COURT: Based upon this case.

MR. GIORDANI: That's accurate. Yeah, that's accurate.

17 THE COURT: All right. So --

MR. GIORDANI: So we're not disputing what you're saying.

THE COURT: -- he was -- he previously testified that he was on probation. That he was removed from formal probation on 4/13 --

MR. GIORDANI: 1/13.

THE COURT: 1/13 of --

MR. GIORDANI: '16.

THE COURT: -- '16. That after he was charged in 1 2 this case, a Violation Report was filed. 3 MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Was it in this case that the Violation Report was filed or was it in his other case? 4 5 MR. GIORDANI: No, it was in the case you're talking about. 6 7 THE COURT: Okay. In the other case --MR. WOOLDRIDGE: It was in the Henderson case. 8 9 MR. GIORDANI: This was the basis, this murder, 10 accessory and robbery. MR. WOOLDRIDGE: I don't think so. 11 I think he -bear with me. 12 13 THE COURT: Well, we don't have so say what the 14 Violation Report was. 15 MR. GIORDANI: No. 16 THE COURT: He was released from formal supervised 17 probation -- all right, he was placed on informal probation, 18 not required to report to a probation officer beginning January 13th of 2016. 19 20 MR. GIORDANI: Correct. 21 THE COURT: That three days after his arrest in this 22 case, a Violation Report was filed. 23 MR. GIORDANI: Three days after this crime occurred. 24 THE COURT: Three days after this --25 MR. GIORDANI: Because this was --

THE COURT: -- incident occurred.

MR. GIORDANI: Yes, this incident was the 25th, and the Violation Report was filed the 28th. And then since then, they've status checked it out to see what happened in a sentencing in this case, and there's a violation -- or a revocation pending on whatever date Mr. Wooldridge said.

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Let me see. I can pull it up.

MR. GIORDANI: Which I presume will happen after the sentencing in this case because this is more serious stakes, obviously.

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Bear with me, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And when is the status check set?

MR. GIORDANI: Mr. Wooldridge will have to tell you that. I don't have that date.

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Judge, the issue that I have when we're talking about all this informal probation stuff is that, I believe that the jury's going to think that he's -- like his probation is not that serious when really, what's going on is the reason why he's on informal probation --

THE COURT: The only thing that's important is that they know that he has a prior conviction. The --

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Well, it's --

THE COURT: -- probation is not important unless you think that has something to do with the plea deal, and if we can't work out -- if you don't want to work out a stipulation

```
this morning, that's fine. I'll bring the jury back on
 1
 2
    Wednesday and you can recall the witness and ask your
 3
    questions.
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE:
                               The issue, Judge --
 4
 5
              THE COURT: So what do you want?
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE: That's what I want to do.
 6
 7
              THE COURT: Which?
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Recall the witness.
 8
 9
              THE COURT: Okay.
10
              MR. GIORDANI: Well, and there is no witness,
   because he doesn't have a probation officer. So what do you
11
12
    want in the stipulation. We can discuss it.
13
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE: I want it to be known that he's on
14
    probation. If we're going to get into all the stuff that he's
15
    on, informal probation, I don't --
16
              THE COURT: The stipulation is, is that he was
17
    incorrect, he is on probation.
18
              MR. GIORDANI: Fine.
19
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Okay.
20
              THE COURT: All right.
21
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE:
                               Thank you.
22
              THE COURT: So the stipulation will be that Antoine
23
    -- was it --
24
              MR. ROSE: Antoine Bernard.
25
              THE COURT:
                         -- Bernard testified that he was not on
```

```
probation from his prior case. Both sides stipulate that he
 1
 2
    was incorrect, and that he is on probation.
 3
              MR. GIORDANI: As of -- it preexist this case.
              THE COURT: From that prior case?
 4
 5
              MR. GIORDANI:
                             Yes.
 6
              THE COURT: Yes.
 7
              MR. GIORDANI: Yeah, fine.
                               That's correct.
 8
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE:
 9
              MR. GIORDANI: Fine with us.
10
              THE COURT: All right.
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE: I don't know if it's incorrect.
11
12
    don't know if I like that kind of language, though.
                                                          It makes
13
    it sound like he's making an innocent mistake.
14
              MR. ROSE: Well, he very well might have.
15
              THE COURT: You're stipulating that he was
16
    incorrect.
17
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Was he incorrect or was he lying?
18
              THE COURT: That's for you to argue to the jury on
19
    closings.
20
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE:
                               All right.
21
              THE COURT: I'm not going to say he was lying.
22
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Well, why do we have to say
23
    anything about incorrect? Just he's on probation.
24
              THE COURT: All right.
25
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE: That's what I want.
```

THE COURT: He testified that he was not on probation from a prior case. Both State and defense stipulate that Antoine Bernard was on probation from the prior case.

MR. GIORDANI: Sure. Sure.

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: That's fine. Thank you.

THE COURT: How's that work?

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: That's good.

THE COURT: All right. Now, sir instructions.

We've got the jury instructions as proposed. Any other jury instructions requested by either side?

MR. GIORDANI: Not on behalf of the State.

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: It's my page 40. I think that the State called their last witness, their rebuttal witness. I think it really played into the jury's sympathy. I think we need a separate instruction specifically on sympathy, and that would be my number 40.

MR. GIORDANI: And our position is, is it -- the common sense instruction, the stock instruction, says a verdict may never be influenced by sympathy, prejudice or public opinion. Your decision should be the product of sincere judgment and sound discretion in accordance with these rules of law and that covers it.

THE COURT: Yeah, I think that covers it, and your

```
request for the additional instruction would be cumulative.
 1
 2
    So therefore, I will not give it. All right. Any other --
 3
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE: That's fine, Judge.
              THE COURT: Any objections to the ones that are to
 4
 5
   be given?
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE: No.
 6
 7
              MR. GIORDANI: Nope.
              THE COURT: All right. And you've received the
 8
    verdict form?
 9
10
              MR. GIORDANI: Yes.
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Yes.
11
12
              THE COURT: Any objection to the verdict form?
13
              MR. GIORDANI: No.
14
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE: No.
15
              THE COURT: All right. Then let's bring the -- take
    a couple minutes. We'll bring the jury in. I will read the
16
    stipulation to them, and then I will do closing -- I'll do the
17
18
    jury instructions, and then we'll go right into closing
19
    arguments. All right?
20
              MR. GIORDANI: Yes, Your Honor.
21
              THE COURT: Okay.
22
              MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Your Honor, will we take a break
23
   before closing or will we just go right into it?
24
              THE COURT: No, we're going to take a break right
   now --
25
```

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Yep.

THE COURT: -- and yes, we'll go right from jury instructions right into closing.

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Okay.

(Court recessed at 9:50 a.m. until 9:57 a.m.)

THE MARSHAL: All rise for the jurors.

(In the presence of the jury)

THE MARSHAL: Court come to order. Department 17 is now in session. The Honorable Senior Judge Cathy Hardcastle, presiding.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. You may have a seat. We're missing one juror.

MR. ROSE: Your Honor, we excused one juror yesterday.

THE COURT: Oh, that's right. That was the alternate that's moved over. Okay. I'm sorry. I saw the empty seat and got confused for a second. All right. So all members of panel are present, counsel for both sides are present.

Ladies and gentlemen, the parties have reached a stipulation regarding a fact. The parties have stipulated that witness Antoine Barron (sic) testified that he was not on probation from a prior case. Both the State and the defense stipulate that Antoine Barron was on probation from a prior case.

MR. GIORDANI: It's Antoine Bernard.

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Your Honor, it's Antoine Bernard, just for clarification.

THE COURT: Oh, Bernard.

MR. GIORDANI: Yes.

THE COURT: I said Barron.

MR. GIORDANI: Yes.

THE COURT: Bernard. Antoine Bernard. All right.
Anything else?

MR. GIORDANI: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Both sides have rested?

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Yes.

MR. GIORDANI: Yes.

THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen, we've reached that point in the case where both sides have rested. You've heard all the evidence that's going to be presented to you. It is now my time to read you the instructions on the law.

As I read the instructions, pay attention, but don't be overly concerned if there's some that seem to be a little confusing because you'll have copies of this to take with you. We'll make you six copies. If you want more, just let us know. If each of you wants your own separate copy, we'll be happy to make additional copies. So just let us know about that.

(Court reads Jury instructions to the Jury) 1 THE COURT: State. 2 3 MR. ROSE: Thank you, Your Honor. (State's closing argument; not transcribed) 4 5 THE COURT: Counsel. 6 MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Can we approach real quick, Your 7 Honor? (Off-record bench conference) 8 9 THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, it's my policy, I 10 like to give the attorneys the right to start their argument and finish their argument without interruption. So we're 11 going to take an early lunch, and I'll bring you back here at 12 13 12:30. And at 12:30, we'll hear the defense closing argument and then State will give their final closing argument and 14 15 then the case will go to the jury. 16 So before I release you for your lunch, just remind you again, not to discuss the case among yourselves or with 17 anyone else. Don't form or express any opinion. Don't do 18 19 any research, do any Internet search, don't text, don't tweet 20 about the case. We'll you back here at 12:30. 21 THE MARSHAL: Rise for the jurors. 22 (Outside the presence of the jury) 23 THE COURT: All right. We're outside the presence of the jury. Anything else we need to make a record on? 24 25 MR. WOOLDRIDGE: No, Your Honor.

```
13
              MR. GIORDANI: Not from the State.
 1
 2
              THE COURT: All right. Thank you. I'll see you at
 3
    12:30.
           (Court recessed at 11:11 a.m. until 12:36 p.m.)
 4
 5
                    (In the presence of the jury)
              THE MARSHAL: Court will come to order. Department
 6
 7
    17 is back in session.
              THE COURT: All right. We're back on the record.
 8
   Have a seat. All members of the jury panel are present.
10
   Counsel for both sides are present. Defendant is present.
   Just to make a quick record, over the lunch hour I was
11
12
   approached by one of the jurors downstairs. I was asked a
13
   question, and I didn't mean to be rude or anything, but again,
14
   the rules are we can't talk to the jury. And yes, my portrait
15
   is in the building. It's up on one of the upper floors, but
16
    thank you. All right.
             MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Bear with me, Your Honor.
17
18
          (Defendant's Closing Argument; not transcribed).
         (State's Rebuttal Closing Argument; not transcribed)
19
20
              THE COURT: All right. The Clerk will swear in the
21
   bailiff or the marshal to take charge of the jury.
22
                          (Marshal is sworn)
23
              THE MARSHAL: Jurors?
24
              THE COURT: All right. And we will swear in the
25
   clerk to take charge of the alternates.
```

(Clerk is sworn)

THE COURT: All right. On the alternates, I'm going to go ahead and let you go this afternoon. Before you leave, we're going to get your phone numbers. If something happens where we need for you to come back and fill in on the jury, we will give you a call. And once the case is over, and I release the jury, we will call you and let you know so that you can come in and pick up your checks.

THE MARSHAL: All right, jurors, follow me.

THE COURT: If the alternates want to go ahead and file out with the jury, we'll come out and get your phone numbers in just a minute and send you home. Go ahead and follow them out.

(Outside the presence of the jury.)

THE COURT: Hang on just a sec.

(Pause in the proceedings)

THE COURT: All right. We're outside the presence of the jury. Anything else that we need to cover?

MR. GIORDANI: Not on behalf of State.

MR. WOOLDRIDGE: Not -- nothing, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right, thank you. Make sure that we have your phone numbers, and so we can get ahold of you. And counsel approach for a minute.

(Off-record bench conference.)

THE COURT RECORDER: Are we off the record now,

Verbatim Digital Reporting, LLC ♦ 303-798-0890

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