IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Feb 20 2024 11:48 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

JAVAR KETCHUM,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 87012

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ketchum's Second Petition was properly denied as being timebarred, successive, and an abuse of writ. Ketchum fails to challenge the procedural bars. An evidentiary hearing was not necessary. All of Ketchum's claims had already been addressed and ruled on the merits. Ketchum failed to overcome the bar by showing good cause or prejudice.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SECOND PETITION WAS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

Ketchum argues that the district court abused its discretion by denying Ketchum's Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. Appellant Opening Brief ("AOB") at 3.

The Second Petition was titled "Amended Petition For Writ of Habeas Corpus," however, there was no habeas petition to amend. The First Petition, filed on September 11, 2020, was denied by the District Court on March 12, 2021. AA VV AO839 – 834. Ketchum's related Motion For Reconsideration was also denied by the District Court on May 4, 2021. AA VV AO000838. The Nevada Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of the First Petition on February 3, 2022. Ketchum v. State, 502 P.3d 1093, 4-5, WL 336288 (2022). Thus, Ketchum had no habeas petition to amend. The district court denied the "Amended Petition" as a procedurally barred Second Petition on May 23, 2023. AA VV AO000833. The district court held that in addition to being time-barred and successive, all four grounds in the Second Petition were precluded by the doctrines of res judicata and

law of the case because they had been considered and denied by the district court and the Court of Appeals of Nevada. AA VV AO000836 – 848.

Ketchum's Opening Brief fails to challenge the district court's application of the procedural bars or the application of the doctrines of res judicata or law of the case. Ketchum does not challenge the district court's several reasons for dismissing the Second Petition, but rather re-argues claims raised in the Second Petition in the first instance. The district court did not reach the merits of any of these claims because the claims were procedurally barred. Because Ketchum fails to challenge the district court's findings, the denial of the Second Petition should be affirmed. Although Ketchum offers no argument suggesting that the district court's application of the procedural bars or doctrines of res judicata were erroneous, the application of the same was clearly correct.

Application of the bars was mandatory. The Nevada Supreme Court has granted no discretion to the district courts regarding whether to apply the statutory procedural bars. Instead, the Nevada Supreme Court has emphatically and repeatedly stated that the procedural bars must be applied. The district courts have a duty to consider whether post-conviction claims are procedurally barred. State v. Eighth Judicial District Court (Riker), 121 Nev. 225, 234, 112 P.3d 1070, 1076 (2005). Riker held that the procedural bars "cannot be ignored when properly raised by the State." Id. at 233, 112 P.3d at 1075. Accord, State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. 192, 197,

275 P.3d 91, 94-95, footnote 2 (2012), cert. denied, 568 U.S. 1147, 133 S.Ct. 988 (2013) ("under the current statutory scheme the time bar in NRS 34.726 is mandatory, not discretionary" (emphasis added)). Even "a stipulation by the parties cannot empower a court to disregard the mandatory procedural default rules." State v. Haberstroh, 119 Nev. 173, 180, 69 P.3d 676, 681 (2003); accord, Sullivan v. State, 120 Nev. 537, 540, footnote 6, 96 P.3d 761, 763-64, footnote 6 (2004) (concluding that a petition was improperly treated as timely and that a stipulation to the petition's timeliness was invalid). The Sullivan Court "expressly conclude[d] that the district court should have denied [a] petition" because it was procedurally barred. Sullivan, 120 Nev. at 542, 96 P.3d at 765. The district courts have zero discretion in applying the procedural bars because to allow otherwise would undermine the finality of convictions. In holding that "[a]pplication of the statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory," the Riker Court noted:

Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is final.

Riker, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074.

Moreover, strict adherence to the procedural bars promotes the best interests of the parties:

At some point, we must give finality to criminal cases. Should we allow [Petitioner's] post-conviction relief proceeding to go forward, we would encourage defendants to file groundless petitions for federal habeas corpus relief, secure in the knowledge that a petition for postconviction relief remained indefinitely available to them. This situation would prejudice both the accused and the State since the interests of both the Ketchum and the government are best served if post-conviction claims are raised while the evidence is still fresh.

Colley v. State, 105 Nev. 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989) (citations omitted). The district court properly applied the procedural bars.

The district court held that the Second Petition was time-barred pursuant to NRS 34.726. VV AA AO000836.

NRS 34.726(1) states:

Unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year of the entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur. For the purposes of this subsection, good cause for delay exists if the petitioner demonstrates to the satisfaction of the court:

- (a) That the delay is not the fault of the petitioner; and
- (b) That dismissal of the petition as untimely will unduly prejudice the petitioner.

This Court has held that NRS 34.726 should be construed by its plain meaning. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 873-74, 34 P.3d 519, 528 (2001). As per the language of the statute, the one-year time bar proscribed by NRS 34.726 begins to run from the date the judgment of conviction is filed or a remittitur from a timely direct appeal is filed. Dickerson v. State, 114 Nev. 1084, 1087, 967 P.2d 1132, 1133– 34 (1998).

Ketchum failed to file the Second Petition prior to the one-year deadline. Remittitur was issued from Ketchum's appeal on October 8, 2019; therefore, Ketchum had until October 8, 2020, to file a timely habeas petition. AA VIV AO000688. Ketchum filed the Second Petition on March 24, 2023. AA VV AO000774. This was over two years and five months after Ketchum's one-year deadline.

Ketchum's Second Petition was procedurally barred by NRS 34.726(1) as it was filed nearly three and a half years after the Nevada Supreme Court issued its remittitur following Ketchum's appeal of his Judgment of Conviction. Ketchum did not address in the Second Petition how this delay was not his fault or that dismissal of the petition as untimely would have unduly prejudiced him.

Further, Ketchum recognized in his Second Petition that it was his second petition for writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction) after the first one was denied, appealed, and affirmed. AA VV AO000777. The Court recognized that Ketchum indicated in his acknowledgment that the Second Petition was being filed past the one-year deadline because (according to Ketchum), "the Court ordered that this Second Petition be filed after the affirmance of the Court's denial of the Petition by the Nevada Court of Appeals." AA VV AO000780. However, the district court did not find any record support for the claim that the asserted order was made, especially in relation to the timing indicated by Ketchum. AA VV AO000836. Regardless, the court properly found that the Second Petition was time-barred pursuant to NRS 34.726(1).

II. THE SECOND PETITION WAS BARRED AS SUCCESSIVE

The district court denied the Second Petition as being successive. AA VV AO000842 – 843.

NRS 34.810(2) reads:

A second or successive petition must be dismissed if the judge or justice determines that it fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and that the prior determination was on the merits or, if new and different grounds are alleged, the judge or justice finds that the failure of the petitioner to assert those grounds in a prior petition constituted an abuse of the writ.

Second or successive petitions are petitions that either fail to allege new or different grounds for relief and the grounds have already been decided on the merits or that allege new or different grounds, but a judge or justice finds that the petitioner's failure to assert those grounds in a prior petition would constitute an abuse of the writ. Second or successive petitions will only be decided on the merits if the petitioner can show good cause and prejudice. NRS 34.810(3); <u>Lozada v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 349, 358, 871 P.2d 944, 950 (1994); <u>see also Hart v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 558, 563–64, 1 P.3d 969, 972 (2000) (holding that "where a defendant previously has sought relief from the judgment, the defendant's failure to identify all grounds for relief in the first instance should weigh against consideration of the successive motion.")

This Court has stated: "Without such limitations on the availability of post-conviction remedies, prisoners could petition for relief in perpetuity and thus abuse post-conviction remedies. In addition, meritless, successive and untimely petitions clog the court system and undermine the finality of convictions." Lozada, 110 Nev. at 358, 871 P.2d at 950. The Nevada Supreme Court recognizes that "[u]nlike initial petitions which certainly require a careful review of the record, successive petitions may be dismissed based solely on the face of the petition." Ford v. Warden, 111 Nev. 872, 882, 901 P.2d 123, 129 (1995). In other words, if the claim or allegation was previously available with reasonable diligence, it is an abuse of the writ to wait to assert it in a later petition. McClesky v. Zant, 499 U.S. 467, 497–98 (1991). Application of NRS 34.810(2) is mandatory. See Riker, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074.

Ketchum had already filed a prior postconviction habeas petition. AA VIV AO000691. The First Petition was filed on September 11, 2020. Id. The district court heard and denied the First Petition on March 31, 2021. AA VIV AO000704. On February 3, 2022, the Nevada Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court's denial of the First Petition. Ketchum v. State, 502 P.3d 1093, 1-4, 2022 WL 336288, (2022) (unpublished).

Furthermore, Ketchum recognized that each of the four grounds he brought in the Second Petition had been raised in the First Petition and Ketchum's direct appeal

from his Judgement of Conviction. AA VV AO000779. Ketchum failed to allege new or different grounds for relief and those grounds had already been denied on the merits, and he did not allege good cause or actual prejudice sufficient to permit him to re-raise already denied claims. The court properly denied the petition for being successive.

III. THE SECOND PETITION WAS SUBJECT TO THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA & THE DOCTRINE OF THE LAW OF THE CASE

"Generally, the doctrine of res judicata precludes parties ... from relitigating a cause of action or an issue which has been finally determined by a court" Exec. Mgmt. v. Ticor Titles Ins. Co., 114 Nev. 823, 834, 963 P.2d 465, 473 (1998) (internal quotation & citation omitted). "The law of a first appeal is law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 315, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975) (quoting Walker v. State, 85 Nev. 337, 343, 455 P.2d 34, 38 (1969)). "The doctrine of the law of the case cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings." Id. at 316, 535 P.2d at 799. Under the law of the case doctrine, issues previously decided on direct appeal may not be reargued in a habeas petition. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 879, 34 P.3d 519, 532 (2001) abrogated by Rippo v. State, 134 Nev. 411, 423 P.3d 1084 (2018). Furthermore, this Court cannot overrule the Nevada Supreme Court. Nev. Const. Art. VI § 6. See Mason v. State, 206 S.W.3d 869, 875 (Ark. 2005) (recognizing the doctrine's applicability in the criminal context); see also York v. State, 342 S.W. 528, 553 (Tex. Crim. Appl. 2011).

Ketchum's claims were barred by res judicata because they had previously been adjudicated in Ketchum's First Petition on the merits. AA VIV AO000708. The court addressed each of Ketchum's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding the way his counsel handled the surveillance footage. AA VIV AO000708-710. The court also addressed in the First Petition Ketchum's claim regarding his counsel's cross examination of Antoine Bernard. AA VIV AO00713-715. The court found that each one of Ketchum's Claims was without merit. AA VIV AO000713-715.

Ketchum's claims were barred by the law of the case because the Nevada Court of Appeals had previously affirmed the district court's denial of these claims:

First, Ketchum claimed that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion requesting discovery. However, counsel filed a motion to compel discovery prior to trial. Accordingly, Ketchum failed to demonstrate that his trial counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness or a reasonable probability of a different outcome had counsel performed different actions concerning a request for pretrial discovery. Therefore, we conclude the district court did not err by denying this claim without conducting an evidentiary hearing.

Second, Ketchum claimed that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to review all of the surveillance footage in the possession of the State prior to trial. Ketchum asserted that counsel failed to review portions of the surveillance video that depicted him interacting with the victim prior to the shooting. Ketchum contended that counsel's failure to review all of the surveillance footage led counsel to improperly assess the factual circumstances of the case.

However, the record in this matter demonstrated that significant evidence of Ketchum's guilt was presented at trial. During trial, a witness testified that Ketchum indicated that he intended to rob the victim prior to the shooting. The record demonstrates that surveillance video depicted Ketchum and the victim together shortly before the shooting but did not depict the actual shooting. The surveillance video also depicted the aftermath of the shooting and showed Ketchum taking items from the victim. Ketchum subsequently fled the scene with the victim's belongings. In light of the significant evidence of Ketchum's guilt presented at trial, he failed to demonstrate a reasonable probability of a different outcome at trial had counsel viewed all of the surveillance footage prior to the trial. Therefore, we conclude the district court did not err by denying this claim without conducting an evidentiary hearing.

Third, Ketchum claimed that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to admission of the surveillance video recordings. Ketchum contended that counsel should have attempted to stop the admission of the recordings because they were the State's most critical pieces of evidence. The record demonstrates that the surveillance video recordings were relevant evidence, and relevant evidence is generally admissible at trial. See NRS 48.015; NRS 48.025(1). In addition. Ketchum did not demonstrate that the probative value of the surveillance recording was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, see NRS 48.035(1), and therefore, Ketchum did not demonstrate the recordings were inadmissible. Accordingly, Ketchum failed to demonstrate that his counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Ketchum also failed to demonstrate a reasonable probability of a different outcome had counsel objected to admission of the surveillance video recordings. Therefore, we conclude the district could did not err by denying this claim without conducting an evidentiary hearing.

Fourth, Ketchum claimed that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object during the State's rebuttal argument when it displayed portions of the surveillance video recording that were not previously utilized during the trial. The record demonstrates that the surveillance video recordings that the State used during its rebuttal argument were admitted into evidence during trial. Thus, the State did not improperly

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